Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-26-2018

In re CSRBA Case No. 49576 Subcase No. 91-7755 Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45384

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal from the Coeur d'Alene-Spokane River Basin Adjudication ("CSRBA") district court decision, granting in part and denying in part cross-motions for summary judgment, regarding claims by the United States for federal reserved water rights in connection with the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation.

2. Course of the Proceedings.

The United States filed a total of 353 federal reserved water right claims in the CSRBA for the Coeur d'Alene Reservation, on behalf of the Coeur d'Alene Tribe (the "Tribe"), as follows: (1) 17 domestic, commercial, municipal and industrial claims; (2) 72 instream flow claims for fish habitat; (3) 44 irrigated agriculture claims; (4) one lake level maintenance claim for Lake Coeur d'Alene; (5) 24 claims for springs and seeps; and (6) 195 claims for wetlands. R. at 5–7, 359–61.

The State of Idaho, the North Idaho Water Rights Group and other parties to the CSRBA filed objections and responses to the claims of the United States. Included in these objections was the State's concern that "the claimed water right is not necessary to accomplish the primary purpose for which the Reservation was set aside." R. at 369–70 (State's objection to claim no. 91-7755). This "necessity" objection was also made by members of the North Idaho Water Rights Group (R. at 385, 425 and 434), as well as by other objectors (R. at 399, 404, 410 and 431).

The district court consolidated the 353 subcases and determined that it would consider the case in two bifurcated stages, deciding first whether the United States was entitled to a reserved water right and, if so, the second phase of the case would quantify the right. The district court made clear: "Issues related to entitlement will be addressed in a single proceeding prior to litigation of quantification issues." R. at 462–63 (*Order Consolidating Subcases; Scheduling Order* (Feb. 17, 2015)). A summary judgment motion deadline was set, but the district court also scheduled an evidentiary trial in the entitlement proceeding. R. at 464. No quantification proceedings were scheduled.

Cross-motions for summary judgment were filed on the entitlement issues involving all 353 federal claims. A hearing was held in Coeur d'Alene, followed by the district court's *Order on Motions for Summary Judgment* (May 3, 2017) (R. at 4310–32), along with the district court's *Final Order Disallowing Purposes of Use* (May 3, 2017) (R. 4301–03) and its original *Final Order Disallowing Water Right Claims* (May 3, 2017) (R. 4305–08). The original Final Order disallowed 84 federal claims. Following consideration of a motion to set aside filed by the United States and the Tribe, the district court issued an *Amended Final Order Disallowing Water Right Claims*

(July 26, 2017) (R. at 4468–71), which reinstated 15 federal claims, thereby disallowing a total of 69 claims.

The North Idaho Water Rights Group timely filed its Notice of Appeal on September 6, 2017. Additional notices of appeal were filed by the State of Idaho, the United States and the Tribe. The transcript and record were consolidated for the four appeals.

3. Statement of the Facts.

The district court adopted the detailed summary of the circumstances surrounding the creation of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation that were provided in *Idaho v. U.S.*, 533 U.S. 262, 265–71 (2001). *Order on Motions for Summary Judgment* at 4–6. They are set out at length in the district court's opinion and will not be repeated verbatim here. An abbreviated summary of those facts is provided here instead, along with a short statement of other relevant facts.

President Johnson issued an Executive Order creating the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation in 1867. The Tribe found the 1867 boundaries unsatisfactory and negotiated an agreement in 1873 to enlarge the reservation boundaries to include certain waterways, including almost all of Lake Coeur d'Alene and portions of the St. Joe, Coeur d'Alene and Spokane Rivers. While the 1873 agreement was not approved by Congress, President Grant issued an additional Executive Order that same year establishing the enlarged reservation.

In 1887, the Tribe and the United States again negotiated, in response to the Tribe's 1885 petition to enter into an agreement. As a result, the Tribe agreed to cede all lands outside of the 1873 reservation boundaries. Congress did not immediately approve the 1887 agreement, expressing concern about the expanded size of the 1873 reservation boundaries. As a result,

additional negotiations were authorized in 1889. In the 1889 agreement, the Tribe agreed to cede the northern portion of the reservation, including approximately two-thirds of Lake Coeur d'Alene and the previously included portions of the Coeur d'Alene and Spokane Rivers.

In 1891, Congress approved both the 1887 and 1889 agreements with the Tribe. *Idaho*, 533 U.S. at 265–71; *Order on Motions for Summary Judgment* at 4–6.

The ceded lands were opened to homestead under the 1891 act. A further cession was made by agreement in 1894. A 1906 act made provision for surveying the diminished reservation, allotting lands to the Indians, and opening the unallotted lands to homestead entry. R. at 885–86, 994–97. In pursuance of the provisions of the 1906 act for opening the reservation lands, a proclamation was issued in 1909 for the opening of lands to settlement and entry, including a drawing in 1909 and general settlement beginning in 1910. R. at 888–89.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the district court erred in recognizing fishing and hunting as a primary purpose of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation.
- 2. Whether the district court erred by allowing claims to proceed to the quantification phase without first making determinations of necessity during the entitlement phase.
- 3. Whether the district court erred in not disallowing instream flow claims within the Coeur d'Alene Reservation.
- 4. Whether the district court erred in not disallowing irrigation claims within the Coeur d'Alene Reservation.

- 5. Whether the district court erred in not disallowing claim no. 95-16704 (Lake Coeur d'Alene) within the Coeur d'Alene Reservation.
- 6. Whether the district court erred in not disallowing ground water claims within the Coeur d'Alene Reservation.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

In an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the Court applies the same standard of review as that used by the district court when originally ruling on the motion. *Mitchell v. Bingham Mem'l Hosp.*, 130 Idaho 420, 422, 942 P.2d 544, 546 (1997). Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *First Security Bank v. Murphy*, 131 Idaho 787, 790, 964 P.2d 654, 657 (1998). The determination is to be based on the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any. *Id.*; *see* I.R.C.P. 56(c). However, the Court will liberally construe the facts in favor of the party opposing the motion, together with all reasonable inferences from the evidence. *Mitchell*, 130 Idaho at 422, 942 P.2d at 546. When an action will be tried before the court without a jury, the trial court as the trier of fact is entitled to arrive at the most probable inferences based upon the undisputed evidence before it and grant summary judgment despite the possibility of conflicting inferences. *P.O. Ventures, Inc. v. Loucks Family Irrevocable Trust*, 144 Idaho 233, 237, 159 P.3d 870, 874 (2007). The claimant of a water right based on federal law has the ultimate burden of persuasion on each element of the water right. I.C. Sec. 42-

1411A(12). As to issues of law, the Court exercises free review of the trial court's decision. *Hoffer v. Callister*, 137 Idaho 291, 294, 47 P.3d 1261, 1264 (2002).

B. The Law Regarding Federal Reserved Water Rights

The Court has ruled on several cases regarding the doctrine of federal reserved water rights. *See e.g.*, *U.S. v. State of Idaho*, 135 Idaho 655, 23 P.3d 117 (2001) (regarding the Deer Flat National Wildlife Refuge claims); *State v. United States*, 134 Idaho 940, 12 P.3d 1284 (2000) (regarding the Sawtooth National Recreation Area claims); *Potlatch Corp. v. United States*, 134 Idaho 916, 12 P.3d 1260 (2000) (regarding the Wilderness Act and Hells Canyon Recreation Area claims); *Potlatch Corp. v. United States*, 134 Idaho 912, 12 P.3d 1256 (2000) (regarding the Wild and Scenic River Act claims); and *United States v. State*, 131 Idaho 468, 959 P.2d 449 (1998) (regarding the Public Water Reserve 107 executive order claims).

The Court has made clear that the existence or absence of a reserved water right is a matter of federal law, relying in its prior decisions upon United States Supreme Court cases and relevant federal executive and legislative history. Reliance by the Court upon its prior decisions has been intended simply to incorporate reasoning based upon federal law, not to imply that there is applicable state law. *U.S. v. State of Idaho*, 135 Idaho at 122. The Court is "not bound by circuit court precedent even on matters of federal law." *State v. McNeely*, 162 Idaho 413, 416, 398 P.3d 146, 149 (2017). "Such decisions are authoritative only if the reasoning is persuasive." *Id.* Of course, if the United States Supreme Court has interpreted the federal law in question, the Idaho Supreme Court will be bound by the U.S. Supreme Court's interpretation of federal law. *James v.*

City of Boise, Idaho, 136 S.Ct. 685, 686 (2016). With regard to the federal reserved water rights doctrine, the U.S. Supreme Court has spoken definitively, as recognized by the Court.

"In deciding whether an implied reservation of water exists, the Court must determine whether it must be inferred that the executive body involved intended to reserve unappropriated waters. Cappaert v. United States, 426 U.S. 128, 139, 96 S.Ct. 2062, 48 L.Ed.2d 523 (1976)." U.S. v. State of Idaho, 135 Idaho at 123. "An intent to reserve water is inferred if water is necessary for the primary purposes of the reservation and if, without water, the purposes of the reservation will be entirely defeated." State v. United States, 134 Idaho at 943, 12 P.3d at 1287, citing United States v. New Mexico, 438 U.S. 696, 700, 98 S.Ct. 3012, 57 L.Ed.2d 1052 (1978). "The necessity of water must be so great that without the water the reservation would be 'entirely defeated.' New Mexico, 438 U.S. at 702, 98 S.Ct. 3012." U.S. v. State of Idaho, 135 Idaho at 123. "Where a reservation of public land for a particular purpose does not expressly declare that water is needed as a primary use to accomplish the purpose of the reservation, or the exact purpose of the reservation is not clearly set forth in terms readily demonstrating the necessity for the use of water, the courts must consider the relevant acts, enabling legislation and history surrounding the particular reservation under review to determine if a federal reserved water right exists." United States v. State, 131 Idaho at 470.

C. The Primary Purpose of the Reservation Does Not Include Fishing and Hunting

The district court concluded that fishing and hunting was a primary purpose for the federal government to set aside the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation. At the same time, the district court recognized agricultural and domestic uses as primary purposes. While the latter uses find generous

support in the text of the agreements and Congressional acts of the time, fishing and hunting does not. A detailed review of the agreements (1873, 1887 and 1889), Executive Orders (1867 and 1873) and Congressional actions (1886-1891 and 1906) involving the Coeur d'Alene Reservation reveal a purposeful and deliberate purpose: promoting an agrarian lifestyle on a diminishing reservation. This is remarkably similar to the series of events involving the Fort Belknap Reservation that was at issue in the first federal reserved water right case of *Winters v. United States*, 207 U.S. 564 (1908), in which the purpose of the diminished reservation was "to become a pastoral and civilized people," not for the "habits and wants of a nomadic and uncivilized people." *Winters*, 207 U.S. at 576.

The July 1873 agreement, which led to the enlarged Executive Order reservation that same year, sought to locate tribal members "on a reservation suitable to their wants as an agricultural people." R. at 713 (quoting Smith to the Secretary of the Interior (Nov. 1, 1873)). The 1873 agreement was to provide the tribal members with wagons, plows, horses, a grist mill, a saw mill, school buildings, a blacksmith and sundry other agricultural implements. R. at 710, 1866.

The need for assistance was understandable, given the statement by tribal leadership that "we are not as yet quite up to living on farming; with the word of God we took labor too; we began tilling the ground and we like it; though perhaps slowly we are continually progressing; but our unaided industry is not as yet up to the white man's. We think it hard to leave at once old habits to embrace new ones; for a while yet we need have some hunting and fishing." R. at 700. From the entirety of this statement, it seems clear that the overriding goal — the primary purpose — was agriculture (the future), with hunting and fishing as a fading vocation (the past).

The agricultural purpose of the reservation was certainly a promising one, given the favorable remarks on the Tribe's early agricultural practices, as provided by Governor Isaac Stevens and Captain John Mullan. R. at 646, 669, 670 and 686.

Accordingly, "the majority of Coeur d'Alene families began to relocate to the DeSmet area by the late 1870s and early 1880s." R. at 716. "A final factor in the removal of Coeur d'Alene families from their traditional villages to Hangman Creek Valley was the relocation of the Sacred Heart Mission from Cataldo to DeSmet. The Jesuits' move occurred in 1877. *Id.* There were many "well-improved farms[,]" and tribal members had a total of "160 farms" from which they found "a ready sale for their surplus produce at good prices." *Id.* (quoting John A. Simms, Indian Agent, to Commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1879 and 1880 reports).

By "1877 or 1878," the Coeur d'Alenes had reportedly "all commenced making small farms" in the DeSmet area and other lands within the reserve. R. at 725 (quoting James O'Neil, Resident Farmer, Coeur d'Alene, to Sidney D. Waters, Indian Agent (Mar. 26, 1885)).

At the time of the 1883 survey, tribal members were "far advanced over their white neighbors" in their agricultural endeavors. R. at 721 (quoting Waters to Price (Nov. 10, 1883)). In an 1884 letter, Indian Agent Waters called the Coeur d'Alenes "the peers of any farmers on the Pacific slope." R. at 723.

In its 1885 petition, the Tribe stressed the need for proper farming implements. R. at 1871. Congress appropriated funds to negotiate further with the Tribe in 1886. R. at 725. During the meetings in March 1887, the federal commission met with tribal leaders at the DeSmet mission, telling them that their farms were far "ahead of the whites." R. at 726.

In authorizing additional negotiations in 1889, Congress directed the new commission to seek the purchase of portions of the reservation "not agricultural." R. at 733 (quoting Act of March 2, 1889).

Comments made by tribal members during the 1889 Council meetings focused primarily on agricultural uses and "improvements." R. at 740 (Third Council, Aug. 31, 1889; Fourth Council, Sep. 8, 1889). To be sure, the waterways continued to be used by Indians and non-Indians alike afterwards. *See, e.g.*, R. at 741–42 (noting "a favorite camping and fishing place" for both tribal members and "the white people in this vicinity"). But it was not the focus of the reservation.

In 1891, the year Congress ratified the 1887 and 1889 agreements, the local Indian Agent commended the tribal members' agricultural efforts, stating that nearly all of them were farmers. By the mid-1890s, they continued to hold "the finest farms" among all area tribes that boasted "clean fields, well supplied with stock, modern machinery, good houses and barns." At the decade's end, tribal members reportedly had "a greater acreage in cultivation than ever before" and were "better farmers than any other tribe connected with this agency." R. at 741–42 (quoting Indian Agency reports from Cole (1891), Bubb (1894) and Anderson (1899)).

The fact that "not all tribal members relocated from their traditional village sites along tribal waterways" with "some families continu[ing] to reside in the lake and river regions well into the twentieth century" (R. at 716) and that some tribal members "did not abandon their traditional subsistence practices" into the late 1800s (R. at 743), is not sufficient to find that fishing and hunting were a primary purpose of the reservation. Agriculture, however, clearly was, just as in *Winters*.

As a result, the federal claims on the reservation that rely upon a fishing and hunting purpose should be dismissed. This includes the remaining 15 instream flow claims, the lake claim, and the claims for springs, seeps and wetlands.

D. The Test of Necessity Defeats the Federal Government's Reserved Right Claims

The inquiry regarding entitlement to a federal reserved water right does not end with a determination of the primary purpose of the reservation. The New Mexico "test of necessity" must be applied. This is critically important because the federal reserved water rights doctrine is a narrowly tailored exception to the "purposeful and continued deference to state water law by Congress." California v. United States, 438 U.S. 645, 653 (1978). If allowed, the federal claims threaten future curtailment of vested, state law water rights. As admitted by the United States: "The water rights claimed for various consumptive and non-consumptive uses may exceed the natural flow in a given stream in a particular year. The United States and Coeur d'Alene Tribe reserve the right to determine in any particular year which use(s), if any, to limit." R. at 13. Given Idaho's system of priority administration, and the senior priorities claimed by the United States, it is safe to assume that the uses to be limited during times of shortage will not just be those of the Tribe. The more junior state law water right holders on the system will be adversely impacted. That is why the stringency of the necessity test is so important. See also, U.S. v. State of Idaho, 135 Idaho at 666 (observing that federal reserved water right for Wildlife Refuge would make state law irrigation water rights inferior and subject to interruption).

The district court correctly identified this critical task, citing *New Mexico* for the proposition that a federal reserved water right may be implied only after the court "has carefully

examined both the asserted water right and the specific purposes for which the land was reserved, and concluded that without the water the purposes of the reservation would be entirely defeated."

R. at 4316 (Order on Motions for Summary Judgment at 7 (quoting New Mexico, 438 U.S. at 700))

(emphasis added); R. at 4318 (Order on Motions for Summary Judgment at 9, n.4 ("a primary purpose may only carry a federal reserved water right if 'without the water the purposes of the reservation would be entirely defeated.' New Mexico, 438 U.S. at 700.")).

However, the district court stopped short of actually applying the necessity test, seeming to settle instead on identifying the primary purposes of the reservation and implying a federal reserved water right from that finding alone. R. at 4322 (*Order on Motions for Summary Judgment* at 13 ("one primary purpose of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation was to provide the Tribe with the important waterways needed to facilitate its traditional fishing and hunting practices. . . . The Court therefore concludes that when the United States reserved land for use as the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation, it impliedly reserved water rights necessary to fulfill the fishing and hunting purpose of the reservation")). Applying the test below, it is clear that certain federal reserved water right claims are not necessary to fulfill the primary purposes of the reservation and should be disallowed.

1. <u>Fishing and Hunting Purposes Are Not Entirely Defeated Without a Federal Reserved Water Right.</u>

Application of the *New Mexico* "test of necessity" here indicates that no federal reserved water right exists for fish and hunting purposes. In conducting this analysis, it is helpful to first review the Court's previous decisions applying the test.

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