## Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-13-2018

In re CSRBA Case No. 49576 Subcase No. 91-7755 Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45384

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. *New Mexico* Does Not Apply to the Coeur d'Alene Tribe's Reserved Water Rights, and NWIRG's Reliance on *New Mexico* to Impose a Stringent "Test of Necessity" to Defeat the Tribe's Rights Must be Rejected.

As this Court has emphasized in discussing tribal reserved water rights: "American law treats Indian tribes differently than it does sovereign nations or private individuals." *Pocatello*, 145 Idaho at 506. Ignoring this fundamental principle, NIWRG assumes that aspects of the ruling in *U.S. v. New Mexico*, 438 U.S. 696 (1978), apply to defeat all Tribal water rights in this case. *See* NIWRG Br. at 7. This flawed assumption is the basis for much of NIWRG's argument. In particular, NIWRG relies on *New Mexico* to limit the Tribe's reserved water rights under federal law not only to what NIWRG deems to be the "primary" purposes for which the Reservation was established, but also to impose an overarching and impossible standard for when reserved water is necessary *Id*.

NIWRG's argument is fundamentally flawed because *New Mexico*, which determined the water rights of a national forest, has no application to the Coeur d'Alene Reservation. As this Court has recognized, the purposes of an Indian reservation must be construed according to well-established principles that apply to Indian tribes:

First and foremost is the notion that agreements with Indians are to be interpreted to the benefit of the tribes. For example, the Supreme Court has stated,

[W]e will construe a treaty with the Indians as "that unlettered people" understood it, and "as justice and reason demand, in all cases where power is exerted by the strong over those to whom they owe care and protection," and counterpoise the inequality "by the superior justice which looks only to the substance of the right, without regard to technical rules."

U.S. v. Winans, 198 U.S. 371, 380-81, ... (1905) (citing *Choctaw Nation v. U.S.*, 119 U.S. 1, 28, ... (1886); *Jones v. Meehan*, 175 U.S. 1, ... (1899)). Congress certainly has the power to abrogate Indian treaty rights, but its intent to do so must be clear. *See, e.g., Minnesota v. Mille Lacs Band of Chippewa Indians*, 526 U.S. 172, 202, ... (1999); U.S. v. *Dion*, 476 U.S. 734, 739-40, ... (1986) (abrogation of treaty rights requires "clear evidence that Congress actually considered the conflict between its intended action on the

one hand and Indian treaty rights on the other, and chose to resolve that conflict by abrogating the treaty.").

*Pocatello*, 145 Idaho at 506-07. It is these principles—not *New Mexico*'s approach regarding national forests—that control in this case.

Contrary to NIWRG's contention, an Indian reservation is not limited to a single purpose to the exclusion of all others, nor is it reasonable to conclude that an Indian reservation has no "need" for reserved water rights if the purposes of the reservation can be fulfilled by another source.<sup>3</sup> Unlike the national forest in *New Mexico*, an Indian reservation involves the ongoing life of a <u>people</u> on lands promised to them. As would be the case for the life for any people over time, this cannot be reduced to one formulaic purpose. Rather, as the Indians would have understood it at the time the Reservation was established, Tribal life on the Coeur d'Alene Reservation was centered upon traditional activities like hunting, fishing, and gathering, more modern economic pursuits like farming and industrial development, and everyday activities like drinking and washing—and water is needed for all of these purposes.<sup>4</sup> As *Winters* and its progeny hold, water for an Indian reservation is reserved broadly, consistent with the purposes of the reservation, which include providing a permanent home for the Indians to live—to raise their families, to pursue their traditions, and to advance their economies. *See, e.g., Winters*, 207 U.S. at 576; *Arizona I*, 373 U.S. at 598-601.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A similar argument was rejected by the Supreme Court in *Winters*, where the Court found that the Fort Belknap Tribes were entitled to a water right in the Milk River despite the non-Indian water users' argument that sufficient water from springs and streams within the reservation could meet the Indians' water needs. *See* 207 U.S. at 570, 576; *see also In re Gen. Adjudication of All Rights to Use Water in Gila River Sys. & Source*, 989 P.2d 739, 747-48 (Ariz. 1999) (*"Gila III"*) (holding that a right to pump groundwater under state law did not obviate a federal reserved right).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Tribe has appealed the district court's dismissal of Tribal claims for traditional activities other than hunting and fishing, as well as for industrial, commercial, and mixed municipal uses, but those are the subject of a separate appeal before this Court. *See Coeur d'Alene Tribe v. State*, Case No. 45383-2017 (*In re CSRBA*, Case No. 49576, Subcase No. 91-7755).

This is true for the Coeur d'Alene Reservation where the 1873 Agreement provided that the "Indians agree to locate and make their homes upon the reservation" and the 1887 Agreement confirmed that the "Reservation shall be held forever as Indian lands and as homes for the Coeur d'Alene Indians." R. at 4202 (Second Aff. Vanessa Boyd Willard, Ex. 5 (Agreement with the Coeur d'Alene of July 28, 1873) ("1873 Agreement"))); 1391 (Aff. of Richard J. Hart, Ex. 4 (Agreement with the Coeur d'Alene of Mar. 26, 1887 ("1887 Agreement"))). Broad homeland purposes are clearly reflected in the negotiations leading to the creation of the Reservation in 1873—in which the Indians emphasized the importance of waters to the present and future lives of their people. *See* Section II *infra*. Certainly, the Indians would have understood that in agreeing to provide the United States with the lands it coveted and with the peace it desired, they were retaining for their Reservation the waters necessary for a viable, long-term home, not one limited to a single activity.

In key respects, the purposes of Indian reservations, like the Coeur d'Alene Reservation, are the polar opposite from the purposes of national forests, like that at issue in *New Mexico*. The strong preemptive force of federal law protecting Indian present and future uses of water when Indian reservations are established is entirely absent in the case of national forests. As *New Mexico* states, "Congress authorized the national forest system principally as a means of enhancing the quantity of water that would be available to the settlers of the arid west." 438 U.S. at 713. In sharp contrast, Indian reservations were created to provide places for tribes to maintain and develop their homelands, with water for both present and future uses. Put simply, national forests were intended in considerable part to protect settlers in their uses of water under state law while Indian reservations were largely intended to protect tribes from the settlers' uses of water. This dichotomy reflects a fundamentally different relationship with state law—with national forests there is a basic deference to state law, while with Indian reservations, federal law

is strongly preemptive. *See, e.g.*, R. at 2231 (Special Master Report, *Arizona I*) (finding "[t]he suggestion is unacceptable that the United States intended the Indians would be required to obtain water for their future needs by acquiring appropriative rights under state law"); *U.S. v. McIntire*, 101 F.2d 650, 654 (9th Cir. 1939) (rejecting state law as a basis for acquiring water rights on the Flathead Indian Reservation reasoning that "the Montana statutes regarding water rights are not applicable because Congress at no time has made such statutes controlling in the reservation"); *Cohen's Handbook* § 19.03[4], at 1218 ("States have considerable power over federal lands, and Congress has generally deferred to state water law relative to federal lands. By contrast, the establishment of an Indian reservation … preempt[s] state jurisdiction … Congress has never deferred to state water law relative to Indian reservations.") (footnotes omitted).

These differences further underscore why the purposes for reserved rights for national forests are narrowly construed as in *New Mexico*, while purposes for Indian reservations are broadly construed. In *Potlatch Corp. v. U.S.*, 134 Idaho 916, 12 P.3d 1260 (2000), this Court discussed the differing goals for Indian reservations as contrasted with other federal reservations.

[Whereas] *Winters* dealt with the creation of a reservation by treaty, a bargained for exchange between two entities[, a federal law creating other reservations, like] the Wilderness Act [which established the National Wilderness Preservation System], is not an exchange; it is an act of Congress that sets aside land, immunizing it from future development. There is no principle of construction requiring the Court to interpret [it] to create an implied water right.

*Id.* at 920.<sup>5</sup> Both the Montana Supreme Court and Arizona Supreme Court have also recognized the significant differences between the creation of Indian reservations and other kinds of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Goodman Oil Co. of Lewiston v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 136 Idaho 53, 57, 28 P.3d 996, 1000 (2001) ("Indian reservations are different; distinct from every other type of reservation, i.e., national parks, wilderness areas, military reservations, and even further, Indian reservations are a distinct entity within the law.").

reservations and held that *New Mexico* does <u>not</u> apply in determining the reserved water rights on an Indian reservation.<sup>6</sup> *See State ex rel. Greely v. Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Reservation*, 712 P.2d 754, 766-68 (Mont. 1985) ("*Greely*"); *In re Gen. Adjudication of All Rights to Use Water in Gila River Sys. & Source*, 35 P.3d 68, 76-77 (Ariz. 2001) ("*Gila V*").

NIWRG also attempts to use *New Mexico* as the basis for an absolute "test of necessity" that precludes a federal reserved water right if other non-federal sources of water are available (even temporarily), because the lack of a federal reserved right would not entirely defeat the purposes of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation. NIWRG Br. at 7, 11-12. But that is not the test for finding a tribal reserved water right.

An implied reservation of water for an Indian reservation exists where water is necessary to fulfill the purposes of the reservation. *Winters*, 207 U.S. at 576; *Gila V*, 35 P.3d at 71 (quoting *Cappaert v. U.S.*, 426 U.S. 128, 138 (1976)); *see also Greely*, 712 P.2d at 762 ("reserved water rights are established by reference to the purposes of the reservation"). The standard is not, as NIWRG suggests, whether <u>only a federal reserved water right</u> can fulfill the purposes of the reservation, but whether the underlying purposes of the reservation envision water use. *Agua Caliente*, 849 F.3d at 1269. If water is needed for the particular purpose—i.e.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Ninth Circuit has indicated that *New Mexico* does not directly apply to *Winters* doctrine rights on Indian reservations, but nevertheless found it provides useful guidelines. *Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians v. Coachella Valley Water Dist.*, 849 F.3d 1262, 1269 n.6 (9th Cir. 2017) ("*Agua Caliente*") ("we have previously noted that *New Mexico* is 'not directly applicable to Winters doctrine rights on Indian reservations") (citations omitted). While the Ninth Circuit's approach fails to give adequate consideration to the federal Indian law principles that distinguish the situation regarding national forests from that involving Indian reservations, the holding in *Agua Caliente* does not support limiting tribal reserved water rights to a single, narrow purpose. Rather, the Ninth Circuit held in *Agua Caliente* that "[t]he general purpose, *to provide a home for the Indians*, is a broad one that must be liberally construed." *Id.* at 1270 (quoting *Colville Confederated Tribes v. Walton*, 647 F.2d 42, 47 (9th Cir. 1981) ("*Walton I*") (emphasis in original)); *see also id.* at 1265 ("The Executive Orders establishing the reservation are short in length, but broad in purpose.").

for sustaining life on an Indian reservation—reserved water is "necessarily" implied. *See, e.g., Arizona I*, 373 U.S. at 598-99 (finding a reserved right to water where water was "essential to the life of the Indian people"). Therefore, the question before this Court is whether the parties in 1873 intended to establish the Reservation for purposes that need water.

NIWRG relies on the decisions of this Court in *State v. U.S.*, 134 Idaho 940, 12 P.3d 1284 (2000), and *U.S. v. State*, 135 Idaho 655, 23 P.3d 117 (2001), to support its position.<sup>7</sup> Neither case deals with an Indian reservation or the special principles applicable to tribal reserved water rights, nor do they support NIWRG's cramped view of when a federal reserved right is necessary even for other kinds of reservations.

In *State v. U.S.*, this Court denied reserved water rights for the Sawtooth National Recreation Area ("Sawtooth NRA") because the purpose of creating the Sawtooth NRA was "to protect [it] from the dangers of <u>unregulated</u> development and mining operations." 134 Idaho at 944 (emphasis added). This Court found that no water was necessary to fulfill this regulatory purpose. *Id.* at 946 (water not needed to "control the rate and manner of development of the area" or for "limiting mining operations"); *see also id.* at 947 ("This protection is afforded by the existence of statutes and regulations governing mining operations in the Sawtooth [NRA]."); *id.* at 946 ("[t]hese purposes are, and have been, accomplished through the promulgation of land use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In addition to these two cases from this Court, NIWRG also relies on *Puyallup Tribe, Inc. v. Department of Game of Washington*, 433 U.S. 165 (1977) ("*Puyallup III*"), as a case it contends "concluded that the power of the state was adequate for protection of the fish, and a federal reserved water right was not necessary to fulfill that purpose." NIWRG Br. at 14. NIWRG's contention that *Puyallup III* found that "a federal reserved water right was not necessary" is wrong. In *Puyallup III*, there was no issue of reserved water rights before the Supreme Court, and no determination of water rights was made there. *Puyallup III* only considered the extent to which the State of Washington could <u>regulate</u> the Puyallup Tribe's <u>fishing</u> rights. *See* 433 U.S. at 167.

regulations for the recreation area which control the rate and manner of development of the area").

Similarly, in *U.S. v. State*, this Court also found that no reserved water rights were implied for islands reserved in the Deer Flat National Wildlife Refuge ("Refuge") because the purpose of reserving the islands in the Refuge "was to create sanctuaries for migratory birds to protect them from hunters and trappers so they would not become extinct and so they could continue to benefit husbandry," and a bird sanctuary does not need water because, even without water surrounding the islands, "[h]unting is still prohibited and migratory birds still have a sanctuary without a federal reserved water right." 135 Idaho at 663-64. Again, this Court found that fulfilling the purposes of the Refuge did not require water at all. The Coeur d'Alene Reservation, of course, has far broader purposes than either the Refuge or the Sawtooth NRA, as we show in Section II *infra*.

NIWRG's "test of necessity" ignores the fundamental legal principle that state law is simply not the source from which the Tribe derives its water rights—and the existence of state laws, enacted after the Reservation was created, that provide for the use or protection of water cannot be the basis on which to deny the Tribe federally reserved water rights. *See, e.g., Agua Caliente*, 849 F.3d at 1269 (rejecting the argument that a tribe "does not need a federal reserved [water] right" because "the Tribe has a correlative right to groundwater under California law"); *Gila III*, 989 P.2d at 748 (finding state right to pump groundwater would not "adequately serve to protect federal rights"); *see also Walton I*, 647 F.2d at 48 (finding that "the Tribe has a vested property right in reserved water" and "subsequent acts making the historically intended use of the water unnecessary do not divest the Tribe of the right to the water").

In sum, NIWRG's assumption that *New Mexico* applies and mandates a strict "test of necessity" must be rejected. The legal principles applicable to Indian tribes are unique, the

record here demonstrates that the purposes of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation are broad, and accordingly the *New Mexico* case, which involves a very different set of principles and statutes and a very different type of reservation, provides no basis for defeating the Tribe's claims to waters that under the *Winters* doctrine were reserved to ensure a viable future for this Tribe on its Reservation which was promised to it forever.

# II. Congress Ratified the Broad Purposes of Tribe's 1873 Reservation Within the Boundaries Confirmed by the 1891 Act.

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